
 
 

 

 
 

Special Licensing Committee 
(Informal)  

 
 

Tuesday 12th July 2022 
 

10.00 am 
 

A virtual meeting using Zoom meeting 
software 

 

 

The following members are requested to attend the meeting. 
 
Chairman: David Recardo 
Vice-chairman: Wes Read 

 
Jason Baker 
Dave Bulmer 
Adam Dance 
Karl Gill 
 

Jenny Kenton 
Tony Lock 
Kevin Messenger 
Crispin Raikes 
 

Paul Rowsell 
Andy Soughton 
Martin Wale 
William Wallace 
1 vacancy 
 

Any members of the public wishing to address the meeting need to email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Monday 11th July 2022. 
 
The meeting will be viewable online by selecting the committee meeting at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 
 
For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk 
 
This Agenda was issued on Monday 4th July 2022. 

 
Jane Portman, Chief Executive Officer 

 
This information is also available on our website 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA
http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/


Members Questions on reports prior to the Meeting 
 

Members of the Committee are requested to contact report authors on points of clarification 
prior to the Committee meeting. 
 
 

Information for the Public 
 

The Licensing Committee shall be responsible for those functions listed in part 3 of the 
Constitution as being the responsibility of the Committee.  This will include licensing matters 
referred to it by officers, in accordance with the Officer Scheme of Delegation, such as 
contested public entertainment licences, and applications for taxi driver licences where the 
officer considers the application should be determined by members.  The Committee shall 
also be responsible for all the functions assigned to it under the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
The Statutory Licensing Committee has responsibility for all activities under the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 except for policies and fees.  Established under the 
Licensing Act 2003, it exercises the functions of the Licensing Authority which itself is the 
Council. 
 
The Other Licensing Committee can be responsible for all other licensing matters.  
Established by the Council under discretionary power contained in Section 101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
It is lawful for the membership of the two committees to be the same, but they are differently 
constituted and run under different powers. 
  
Licensing Committee agendas and minutes are published on the Council’s website at:  
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 

The Council’s Constitution is also on the web site. 
 
In light of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19), Licensing Committee will meet virtually via 
video-conferencing to consider reports. As of 7 May 2021 some interim arrangements are in 
place for committee meetings. 
 
At the meeting of Full Council on 15 April 2021 it was agreed to make the following changes 
to the Council’s Constitution: 
 

a) To continue to enable members to hold remote, virtual meetings using available 
technology; 
 

b) To amend Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Council’s Constitution to allow 
those remote meetings to function as consultative bodies and delegate decisions, 
including Executive and Quasi-Judicial decisions, that would have been taken by 
those meetings if the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2020 had continued in force to the Chief Executive (or the 
relevant Director in the Chief Executive’s absence) in consultation with those 
meetings and those members to whom the decision would otherwise have been 
delegated under Part 3 of the Constitution; 
 

c) The delegated authority given under (b) will expire on 31 July 2021 unless continued 
by a future decision of this Council; 
 

For full details and to view the report please see - 
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2981&Ver=4 
 

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2981&Ver=4


 

 

Further to the above, at the meeting of Full Council on 8 July 2021, it was agreed to extend 
the arrangements for a further 6 months to 8 January 2022. For full details and to view the 
report please see -  
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3033&Ver=4 
 
Further to the above, at the meeting of Full Council on 16 December 2021, it was agreed to 
extend the arrangements for a further 6 months to 8 July 2022 for all meetings apart from 
Full Council - Full Council will be in person. For full details and to view the report please see 
-  
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2991&Ver=4 
 

Further to the above, at the meeting of Full Council on 16 June 2022, it was agreed to extend 
the arrangements to 21 July 2022 for all meetings apart from Full Council – Full Council will 
be in person.  For full details and to view the report please see 
 
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3233&Ver=4 
 

Public participation at meetings (held via Zoom) 
 
We recognise that these are challenging times but we still value the public’s contribution to 
our virtual meetings. The public are able to participate and contribute to the meeting, you will 
need to be able to access the meeting through Zoom at: https://zoom.us/join  
 
Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total of three minutes. The period allowed for 
public participation usually shall not exceed 15 minutes 
 
If you would like to address the virtual meeting during public participation, please email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Monday 11th July 2022. When you have 
registered, an officer will provide the details to join the meeting. The Chairman will invite you 
to speak at the appropriate time during the virtual meeting.   
 
If you would like to view the meeting without participating, please see: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 
 
 
Virtual meeting etiquette:  
 

 Consider joining the meeting early to ensure your technology is working correctly. 

 Please note that we will mute all public attendees to minimise background noise.  If 
you have registered to speak during the virtual meeting, the Chairman will un-mute 
your microphone at the appropriate time.   

 Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total of five minutes. 

 When speaking, keep your points clear and concise. 

 Please speak clearly – the Councillors are interested in your comments. 
 
 

Recording and photography at council meetings 
 
Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be 
overt and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording 
the meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting.  
 
Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. If anyone making public 
representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know. 
 

https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3033&Ver=4
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2991&Ver=4
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3233&Ver=4
https://zoom.us/join
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA


The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be 
viewed online at:  
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%
20of%20council%20meetings.pdf 
 
 
 
 
 

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District 
Council under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory 
functions on behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for 
advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset 
District Council - LA100019471 - 2022. 
 

 

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


 

 

Licensing Committee (Informal) 
 
Tuesday 12 July 2022 
 
Agenda 
 

Preliminary Items 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
In accordance with the Council's current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 
February2015), which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests (DPI), personal and prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any 
DPI and also any personal interests (and whether or not such personal interests are also 
"prejudicial") in relation to any matter on the Agenda for this meeting. 
 

3.   Public Participation at Committees  
 
a) Questions/comments from members of the public.  This is a chance for members of 
the public and representatives of Parish/Town Councils to participate in the meeting by 
asking questions, making comments and raising matters of concern. 
 

4.   Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 (Pages 6 - 47) 
 
 



 

 
 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 
 

Executive Portfolio Holder: Adam Dance, Area North, Licensing, Environmental 
Health, Equalities 

Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Director Service Delivery 
Service Manager: Michelle James, Principle Licensing Specialist 
Lead Officer: Anita Legg, Specialist, Licensing 
Contact Details: Anita.Legg@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462137 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1   To advise the Licensing Committee of the responses received to the consultation agreed 
at their meeting of 24 January 2022 regarding the Statement of Licensing Policy and for the 
Committee to agree the Policy and its revision and agree its referral for consideration and 
determination at Full Council after its meeting of 12 July 2022.  

 
2. Public Interest 
 
2.1  Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires that all licensing authorities prepare and 
publish a Statement of Licensing Policy in order to exercise their functions under the Act. The 
policy must be revised every five years or sooner if revisions are considered appropriate.  
 
2.2. Following acceptance of the draft Statement of Licensing Policy by the Licensing 
Committee, consultations were conducted between 24 January 2022 and 10 June 2022.   
 
2.3   A total of 7 responses were received and a summary is set out at Appendix A.  Only 
those questions which received a response have been included. 
 
2.4 The Licensing Committee is asked to consider these responses and decide what 
amendments, if any, should be made before putting their recommendation to Full Council for 
adoption. 
 

3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Licensing Committee is recommended to: 
 

1.   Consider responses to the Consultation for the Statement of Licensing Policy 
2.   Agree the Policy and its revisions 
3.   Refer the revised Statement of Licensing Policy to the Full Council for final approval 

  and implementation 

 
4. Background 
 
4.1   This is the sixth Statement of Licensing Policy for this Council.  The draft Policy, including 
the amendments is attached at Appendix B. 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

5. Report Detail  
 
Fundamental Principles of the Statement of Licensing Policy 
 

5.1 In determining the policy, the Council must have regard to the Guidance issued under 
Section 182 of the Act, as well as to the views of those it has consulted. 
 
5.2 The draft policy does not depart from the Guidance from the Government. If, however, 
following the consideration of representations, it is decided that a departure from the 
guidance is necessary to ensure the licensing objectives are met locally, then the reasons for 
that departure must be recorded. This is particularly important in view of the increased 
likelihood of legal challenge if making policies otherwise than in accordance with the Section 
182 Guidance. 
 
5.3 Whilst the Statement of Licensing Policy should set out the approach that the Licensing 
Committee and Sub Committee will adopt when considering different kinds of applications 
and representations, it should not ignore or be inconsistent with provisions within the Act. For 
example, an individual’s right to apply for a variety of permissions and to have any application 
considered on its own merits should not be undermined. 
 
Consultation 
 
5.4 Before determining its policy for the next five-year period, the following must be consulted: 
- 
 

a. The Chief Officer of Police 
b. The Fire Authority 
c. Public Health 
d. Persons/bodies representative of local holders of Premises Licences 
e. Persons/bodies representative of local holders of Club Premises Certificates 
f. Persons/bodies representative of local holders of Personal Licences 
g. Persons/bodies representative of Businesses and Residents. 

 
5.5   The views of all the bodies listed should be given appropriate weight before the policy 
is determined. 
 
5.6    The Licensing Service additionally consulted with recognised trade bodies. 
 

5.7   The consultation was held from 24 January 2022 and concluding on 10 June 2022. 
Notification of the consultation was conducted by email with a link to the draft Statement of 
Licensing Policy and questionnaire published on the SSDC website. 
 
5.8  The departure from the usual 12 week consultation was because most amendments 
made were as a result of well publicised legislative changes and also that experience over 
the last 17 years, since the Act was implemented, has shown that there are typically a very 
small number of responses to this type of consultation.  
 

Page 7



 

5.9 As agreed at the meeting of 24 January 2022, the responses to the draft policy are being 
put to the Licensing Committee for consideration following the close of the consultation. 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1   The government indicates that they expect the centrally set fees of the Licensing Act 
2003 to cover the cost to the council of administering the licensing regime, which would 
include the preparation of the revised policy, and the mailshot.  
 

7. Legal implications (if any) and details of Statutory Powers 
 
7.1   The Licensing Authority is required to act in accordance with the: 

 provisions of the Licensing Act 2003; and have regard to, 

 statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State, and 

 Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy, in its determination of applications. 
 
7.2    Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides that a Licensing Authority must, every 5 
years, determine and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 
7.3    The integrity of the Statement of Licensing Policy has the potential to directly impact 
upon the Council’s determination of applications under the Act and as such decisions made 
could be the subject of judicial review or appeal. 
 
7.4   The Licensing Authority in determining applications and taking enforcement action 
pursuant to the Licensing Act 2003 will also have regard to the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act 2010. 
 

7.5 The licensing objectives that the licensing authority must adhere to in carrying out its 

duties to ensure that the carrying on of licensable activities on or from premises is done in 

the public interest are: - 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 
 public safety; 
 the prevention of public nuisance; 
 the protection of children from harm. 

 

8. Council Plan Implications  
 

8.1    This revised policy supports the Council Plan themes, in particular The Protecting Core 
Services and Environment Areas of focus  
 

 Deliver a high quality, effective and timely service to our customers  
 

9. Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications  
 

9.1   This policy is primarily focused on setting out how the Council will deliver its statutory 
function under the Licensing Act 2003 and does not have any implications for Carbon 
Emissions and Climate Change. However, the addition of a section on Sustainable Event 
Management will help to promote the Councils commitment to address Climate Change 

Page 8



 

impacts and encourage event organisers to consider how they can reduce the impact of their 
events. 

 
10. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

10.1   A stage 1 Equality Analysis (EqA) has been carried out which does not identify any 
impacts on any persons with protected characteristics.   

 
11. Privacy Impact Assessment 
 
11.1   The policy which is the subject of this report does not in itself involve the processing or 
handing of personal data.  The processing of application forms in accordance with this policy 
currently involves the handling of personal data and no changes are being made to how that 
data is processed. The consultation process is likely to result in personal data being 
processed. The responses would be handled by SSDC and any responses would have any 
personal details removed before being published.  
 

Background Papers 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
Current Statement of Licensing Policy 
Section 182 Guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
 
 

Page 9



QUESTION RESPONSE  RESPONSE RESPONSE 
"It has been recommended that 
the Cumulative Impact Policy 
(CIP) within the Statement of 
Licensing Policy is removed. 
Reason:  There is no longer any 
evidence to support it.  
Do you agree with this 
recommendation? 
 - If you disagree (CIP) please 
state your reason(s)" 

The CIP seems to relate mainly to 
Yeovil and Chard and does not 
appear relevant to Bruton so it 
would be impertinent for Bruton 
Town Council to express a view 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No action is required to address 
this response. 

Looking at the harm ranking generated by the 
HaLO tool, there is evidence that the type and 
density of premises selling alcohol for consumption 
are continuing to cause alcohol-harm problems, 
certainly in Yeovil Town centre LSOA, and to a 
lesser degree in Chard Central LSOA. When the CIP 
was introduced it was based on police statistics 
presented in Appendix B of the current policy 
statement.  You have advised verbally that the 
police statistics no longer justify having a CIP for 
these locations. Clearly we have not seen these 
statistics, but based on HALO data which includes 
police data there are clear indications that there is 
significant alcohol harm in these localities, which 
might tend to suggest that CIP status remains 
relevant.  Caution is also required in relation to the 
impact of the pandemic and any rebound effects 
that may occur as the night time economy opens 
up.  Might it not be premature to remove this 
status at this point, and therefore better to retain 
CIP and perhaps review in 2 or 3 years-time when 
the pandemic impacts have worked through? 

 

"Organisers of large scale events 
should submit with any licence 
application supplementary 
supporting document(s) clearly 
setting out how the event(s) will 
be manage. These detailed 
documents are often referred to 
as Event Management Plans.  
Reason:  To ensure Responsible 
Authorities are furnished with 
adequate detail of proposed 
plans to enable sufficient 
assessment of the safe 

The wording of the proposed policy 
is meaningless at best and 
dangerously imprecise, subjective 
and arbitrary at worst, and 
therefore open to abuse.   The 
phrase "sufficiently detailed" begs 
three questions: How much detail 
is deemed sufficient?  Who is to do 
the deeming?  And what are the 
criteria of sufficiency? 
 
More generally, it is easy for 
bureaucrats to impose ever more 

  

P
age 10



management of the proposed 
event. 
 
Do you agree that organisers of 
large scale events should submit 
a sufficiently detailed Event 
Management Plan with their 
application?  
 - If you disagree events, please 
state your reason(s)" 

stringent, detailed and 
burdensome bureaucratic 
conditions on organisers because it 
is not they that have to bear the 
cost, only the unfortunate 
organisers and the members of the 
public they serve.  The overall 
effect is stifling, discouraging such 
event and thereby depriving 
members of the public of much 
appreciated recreational 
opportunities. 

Do you have any other 
comments on the proposed 
amendments to the Statement 
of Licensing Policy? If so, please 
state your reason(s): - comments 
on the proposed amendments 

 "There is at present no public health section in the 
Statement of Licensing Policy, an omission we 
think should be rectified.  The Director of Public 
Health requests that a section on alcohol harm and 
public health is added as per the following please: 
 
""Alcohol harm and public health 
 
The Director of Public Health is a Responsible 
Authority and will consider evidence of alcohol 
harm in making representations in relation to 
licensing objectives, and in the wider context of 
seeking to improve and protect public health and 
wellbeing.  
 
Public Health (Somerset County Council)  has 
developed a tool called HaLO. The purpose of HaLO 
is to enable applicants and Responsible Authorities 
to consider all alcohol-related harms in the 
relevant local area when dealing with a licensing 
application.   The licensing authority encourages 
applicants to make use of the HaLO tool, to 
demonstrate consideration of alcohol harms and 
any additional steps they intend to take to 

 

P
age 11



promote the four licensing objectives as part of 
their application. 
 
The results from the tool will also be used as part 
of representations from the Director of Public 
Health to licensing applications and in negotiations 
with applicants. 
 
HaLO is publicly available at: 
www.somersetintelligence.org.uk/halo/""" 

Are there any parts of the 
current policy that you disagree 
with?  If so, please state your 
reason(s): - parts of the current 
policy disagree with 

There is no mention of street 
trading/markets/charter use within 
this policy. The current policy is 
burdensome and prohibitive to 
event organisers like us seeking to 
work in partnership with the 
council. A block consent approach, 
as used by Somerset West & 
Taunton would be most welcome. 
 
Amendments have not been 
included in the Statement of 
Licensing Policy as these items fall 
under a separate Street Trading 
Policy. 

It used to be the practice (if not a formal policy) of 
the Licensing Authority to inform town and parish 
councils about applications which might be of 
interest or concern to them.   We recognise that 
parish councils are not statutory consultees for 
licensing applications so passing on this 
information was a matter of courtesy, but Bruton 
Town Council very much appreciated this practice 
and would like to see it revived.  This would accord 
with the declared aims and ambitions of the new 
Somerset Council unitary authority which will be 
taking over the functions the Licensing Authority in 
2023.  Somerset Council has promised an 
enhanced role to town and parish councils via the 
proposed Local Community Networks, and 
informing local councils about relevant licence 
applications would be one way of fulfilling this aim. 
 
Amendments have not been included in the 
Statement of Licensing Policy.  
 
All applications, as soon as they are received, are 
published on the Authority website with details of 
the application and the closing date for 
representation to be made. 

"Yes 3.9.2 It is expected that all noise-
related complaints are initially raised 
with the Council’s Environmental 
Protection Service and complaints 
regarding unlicensed activities and 
operating outside the permitted hours 
are raised with the Lead Specialist - 
Environment. 
 
This needs to be changed to be in line 
with current working practices.  All 
noise related complaints must be 
reported through the report it tool on 
our website.  We do not have an 
Environment Protection Service 
anymore and noise sits under the 
umbrella of Environmental Health and 
Licensing." 
 
This amendment, which is a simple 
change of wording, has been amended 
in the Statement of Licensing Policy. 

P
age 12



The draft policy includes a new 
reference to the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency at 
paragraph 4.7.2. 
Reason:  To encourage Licence 
applicants to consider taking 
steps during event design and 
delivery to reduce the burden on 
the environment, whilst at the 
same time not compromising 
event safety.  
Do you agree with this inclusion? 
 - If you disagree Climate, please 
state your reason(s) 

Why add to the complexity of the 
licence process? Decisions on the 
scope of 'Climate change' and the 
steps necessary to reduce the 
impact adds cost and delay. Any 
policies in this regard should be 
stand alone and could then vary as 
determined by government policy. 
The public do not need to be 
lectured on this by any local 
council. 
 
These amendments have not been 
made to the policy as this in itself is 
not adding to the licensing process 
which will take the statutory 28 day 
consultation period.  The inclusion 
of this is in response to the Climate 
and Ecological Emergency 
statement and is intended to 
remind applicants to consider such 
things as paper straws or not using 
single use plastics.  Its inclusion is 
in line with the Council’s 
Environment Strategy and is for 
consideration only. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 13



 
 

 

South Somerset District Council 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Edition 6 
Published Date 2022 

 

 
Contents 

 

LLiicceennssiinngg  PPoolliiccyy  
 

Page 14



 

 2 

 
  Page 

 
 Contacts 3 
   
1.0 Introduction 4 
   
1.1 Background 4 
1.2 Aim 4 
1.3 Purpose 5 
1.4 Consultation 5 
1.5 Fundamental Principles 5 
   
2.0 General Principles 7 
   
2.1 Revisions to Policy 7 
2.2 Areas of Concern 7 
2.3 Children  7 
2.4 Licensing Hours  9 
2.5 Late Night Levies & Early Morning Restriction Orders 10 
2.6 Late Night Refreshment 10 
   
3.0 Licensing Approach 11 
   
3.1 Partnership Working 11 
3.2 Cumulative Impact Policy 12 
3.3 Local Strategies and Policies 12 
3.4 Integrating Strategies 12 
3.5 Avoiding Duplication 12 
3.6 Representations 13 
3.7 Conditions 14 
3.8 Enforcement 15 
3.9 Complaints Against Licensed Premises 16 
3.10 Live Music, Dancing and Theatre 17 
   
4.0 Administrative Issues 17 
   
4.1 Premises Licence 18 
4.2 Garages 20 
4.3 Mobile Premises and Temporary Structures 20 
4.4 Temporary Event Notices 21 
4.5 Applicants for Personal Licences 22 
4.6 
4.7 

Large Scale Events 
Sustainable Event Management 

23 
24 

4.8 Reviews of Licence or Club Premises Certificate 25 
4.9 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions 26 
4.10 The Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority 29 
   
Appendix A Glossary of Terminology 30 
   
Appendix B Contact Details For Responsible Authorities 33 

Contacts and useful websites 

 

Page 15



 

 3 

If you wish to make comments on this Licensing Policy or if you want further information 
regarding the Licensing Act 2003 please contact: 
 
Vicki Dawson 
Lead Specialist - Environment 
South Somerset District Council 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil 
Somerset 
BA20 2HT 
 
Tel: 01935 462462 
Email: licensing@southsomerset.gov.uk  
 
 
The Licensing Act 2003 can be viewed at: 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents 
 
 
The Secretary of State’s Guidance can be viewed at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-
issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003  
 
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 can be viewed at: 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents 
 

Page 16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents


 

 4 

1.0  Introduction 

 
1.1 Background 
 
1.1.1  South Somerset District Council (the Council) is the licensing authority under the 

Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’). It is empowered to administer the following in respect 
of the sale and/or supply of alcohol and the provision of regulated entertainment and 
late night refreshment within the District:  

 

 premises licences including provisional statements, full and minor variations, 
transfers, interim authorities and reviews 

 club premises certificates 

 temporary event notices 

 personal licences  
 

1.1.2 The Licensing Act 2003 requires a Licensing Authority to prepare and publish a 
statement of its Licensing Policy before the Authority can carry out any licensing or 
regulatory functions under the terms of the Licensing Act 2003. This Policy must be 
kept under review and the Licensing Authority may make any revisions to it, as it 
considers appropriate. In any event the Licensing Authority is required to review their 
Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 years. 
 

1.1.3  This Licensing Policy sets out the issues that the Licensing Authority will take into 
account when determining licences throughout the District of South Somerset and 
encompasses experience gained in the implementation and regulation of the 
Licensing Act 2003. 
 

1.1.4 In determining this Policy the Licensing Authority has had regard to the Guidance 
issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. In determining applications 
under The Act the Licensing Authority shall consider: 
 

 The promotion of the four Licensing Objectives 

 Representations and evidence presented by all parties, together with any 
relevant supporting documentation 

 The Latest Guidance issued by the Government 

 The Licensing Authority’s own Statement of Licensing Policy 
 

1.2  Aim 
 
1.2.1 The Act requires the Licensing Authority to carry out its various licensing functions so 

as to promote the four licensing objectives. 
 
1.2.2 The aim of this Licensing Policy is to set out how the Licensing Authority seeks to 

promote the four licensing objectives, which are:  
 

 the prevention of crime and disorder 

 public safety 

 the prevention of public nuisance 

 the protection of children from harm 
 
1.2.3 These four objectives will be the paramount considerations when determining a 

course of action in relation to the Licensing Authority’s licensing functions. Each 
objective will be given equal importance. 

Page 17



 

 5 

1.3  Purpose 
 
1.3.1 The main purpose of this Policy is to provide clarity to applicants, other persons and 

Responsible Authorities on how the Licensing Authority will determine applications to 
supply alcohol, provide regulated entertainment and operate late night refreshment. 

The Licensing Authority will consider all representations from any person 
however it shall apportion the weight of the representation between those 
persons immediately affected by the premises and its operation and those 
persons who may have a lack of knowledge of the area or of personal 
experience. 

 
1.3.2 Where revisions are made to the Guidance there may be a period of time when 

this Policy is inconsistent with the Guidance. In these circumstances the 
Licensing Authority shall have regard, and give appropriate weight, to the revised 
Guidance in conjunction with this Licensing Policy. 

 

1.4  Consultation 
 
1.4.1  Before determining its policy for any five year period, the Licensing Authority will 

consult the following: 
 

 the chief officer of police 

 the fire and rescue authority 

 the director of public health 

 persons/bodies representative of local holders of premises licences 

 persons/bodies representative of local holders of club premises certificates 

 persons/bodies representative of local holders of personal licences 

 persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in the District  
 
1.4.2  The Licensing Authority may consult beyond the statutory requirements, and seek 

comments from additional bodies, groups or individuals as appropriate. 
 

1.5  Fundamental Principles 
 
1.5.1  This Policy sets out the Licensing Authority’s general approach to the making of 

licensing decisions and is consistent with the provisions of the Act. Nothing in the 
Policy will undermine the right of any individual to apply for authorisations and to 
have any such application considered on its individual merits. Similarly, nothing in the 
Policy will override the right of any person to make representations on an application 
or to seek a review of a Licence or Certificate in accordance with the provisions of 
the 2003 Act. 
 

1.5.2 This Policy recognises that the Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on 
public authorities to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; 
and to foster good relations, between persons with different protected 
characteristics. The applicant must give due consideration to disabled persons 
under this Act for access and egress so that they are not at a substantial 
disadvantage. 

 

1.5.3 The introduction of the Policing & Crime Act 2009 extends Police closure powers. 
The Licensing Authority further acknowledges and supports that this legislation 
has been introduced against the background of increasing alcohol-related anti-

Page 18



 

 6 

social behaviour and subsequent hospital admissions that has led to criticism due 
to the increased cost to local residents. This Act signifies a shift back from 
deregulation towards offering greater support for communities being adversely 
affected. 

 
1.5.4 The Licensing Authority may recommend actions over and above the 

requirements of a licence/certificate and applicants are asked to give these 
recommendations serious consideration, as adoption of best practice may be 
considered in the investigation of complaints if they arise in connection with the 
premises in the future. 

 
1.5.5  The Licensing Authority may only impose conditions on a premises licence if they are 

consistent with the operating schedule or after receiving relevant representations and 
only if a Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee determines the matter. 
Any conditions attached to the licence must relate to the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives. 

 
1.5.6  The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Government believes that in some 

circumstances flexible hours for the sale of alcohol can help to ensure that the 
concentrations of customers leaving premises simultaneously are avoided.  

 
1.5.7 Where licensed premises are surrounded by housing, unrestricted extensions of 

hours could extend the time of disturbance to later in the night; therefore the 
Licensing Authority acknowledges that tighter control may be justified in residential 
areas always however having regard to the individual merits of any application. 

 
1.5.8 In general terms the Licensing Authority will closely scrutinise applications for 

premises licences showing a late terminal hour so as to be satisfied that they will 
have no adverse impact on the Licensing Objectives.   

 
1.5.9 Once people are beyond the control of the individual, club or business holding the 

relevant authorisation, licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general 
control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour. Licensing law will always be part of a 
holistic approach to the management of the evening and night-time economy in the 
district. 

 

1.5.10 The Licensing Authority expects every licence holder or event organiser to minimise 
the impact of their activities on the surrounding area and any anti social behaviour 
created by their customers in and within the vicinity of their premises by taking 
appropriate measures and actions consistent with that responsibility. Whether or not 
incidents can be regarded as being in ‘the vicinity’ of the licensed premises is 
recognised as a question of fact and will depend on the specific circumstances in 
each case. In cases of dispute, the question will ultimately be decided by the courts. 
In addressing this matter, the Licensing Authority will primarily focus on the direct 
impact of the activities taking place at the licensed premises on members of the 
public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned. 
 

1.5.11 The type of entertainment offered on licensed premises and the closing hour of 
premises permitted to provide alcohol to the public often have a direct link to crime 
and disorder, public nuisance and public safety issues.  For example, there is 
generally more likelihood of crime and disorder and public safety problems occurring 
in a music and dance venue permitted to sell alcohol and open until 3 am than there 
is in a well managed public house located in a quiet back street that provides limited 
regulated entertainment and closes at 11 pm. 

Page 19



 

 7 

 

2. 0 General Principles  
 

In all applications relating to premises, applicants should specify methods by which 
they will promote the four Licensing Objectives in their operating schedules.   
 

2.1 Revisions to Policy. 
 

2.1.1 The Policy shall be subject to periodic reviews and further consultation as and 
when required. The Licensing Authority may make revisions to this Policy 
following changes to, for example: 
 

 Local circumstances; 

 The Licensing Act, associated regulations or statutory guidance; 

 Other national legislation; or 
 The policies and practices of a responsible authority 

 
 

2.2 Areas of Concern 
 
2.2.1 Specific areas of concern include: 

 Sales of alcohol from “On” and “Off” licensed premises. 

 Glass related injuries. 

 Noise from music on the premises. 

 Nuisance and disturbance from smokers immediately outside the premises. 
 
2.2.2 Applicants for a premises licence are advised to include in their Operating Schedule, 

(where applicable) specifically how they will prevent sales of alcohol to persons 
under 18 years, minimise glass related injuries and or assaults, prevent noise from 
licensed premises become a nuisance and manage customers outside their premises 
who are smoking. It is expected that a Challenge 25 Policy will be adopted at the 
premises. 

 
2.2.3 Experience indicates that a last time of entry condition is assisting in the promotion of 

the licensing objectives. It is therefore expected that applicants for late licensed 
premises will detail in their operating schedules that there will be no new entry or re-
entry to the premises after 1am other than premises which are only open after 1am 
for late night refreshment..  

 

2.3   Children  
 
2.3.1  The Act requires applicants for premises licences and club premises certificates to 

copy details of their applications to a body which: 
 

a) represents those who, in relation to any such area, are responsible for, or 
interested in, matters relating to the protection of children from harm, and 

b) is recognised by the Licensing Authority for that area for the purposes of this 
section as being competent to advise it on such matters.    

 
2.3.2  The Licensing Authority’s policy is that the Responsible Authority in relation to the 

protection of children from harm is Somerset County Council, PO Box 5199, 
Council Offices,Brympton Way, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 2HT 

 

Page 20



 

 8 

 
2.3.3 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees of premises giving film exhibitions to 

include, in their operating schedules, arrangements for restricting children from 
viewing age restricted films.  Such premises will be subject to a mandatory condition 
requiring that access will be restricted to only those who meet the required age limit 
in accordance with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification, 
or in specific cases where such certificates have not been granted, the Licensing 
Authority.  

 
2.3.4 The Licensing Authority does not intend to adopt its own system of film classification 

but reserves the right to amend the classification imposed by the British Board of 
Film Classification.   

 
2.3.5 If the Licensing Authority attaches an age-restriction to any film that differs from the 

BBFC classification or attaches one to an unclassified film, the information about the 
Licensing Authority’s classification will be published on the Council’s website at 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk. 
 

2.3.6 The Licensing Authority shall not seek to limit the access of children to any 
licensed premises unless it is necessary for the prevention of physical, moral or 
psychological harm. In all other cases it will be left to the discretion of the 
Licensee but the Licensing Authority shall expect that the licensee shall give full 
consideration of access by children at all times and ensure that there is a policy 
in place to promote this licensing objective. 
 

2.3.7 The following are examples of premises that are likely to raise concern and 
engage the Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority to take action: 

 

 Where entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are likely to 
undermine the licensing objectives; 

 Where relevant premises are known to allow unaccompanied children; 
 Where the applicant has described in the Operating Schedule that ‘no adult or similar 

entertainment shall take place on the premises’ but intends to hold an event liable to 
compromise the protection of children from harm licensing objective; 

 Where there has been early indication and subsequent evidence of poor 
management of the premises leading to undermining of the licensing objectives; 

 Where the premises have a known association with drug taking or dealing; 

 Where the current staff have received convictions or cautions for serving alcohol to 
minors or where the premises has a reputation for underage drinking or failures in 
test purchasing; 

 Where there is a strong element of gambling or illegal gambling  on the premises; 

 Where there is likely to be under age events with the intention of selling or exposing 
alcohol for sale or where the intention is to permit adults to this event; 

 Where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or 
primary purpose of the services provided at the premises. 

 
2.3.8 Examples of entertainment likely to cause concern are entertainment or services 

of an adult or sexual nature including topless bar staff, striptease, lap, table or 
pole dancing, performances involving feigned violence or entertainment involving 
strong or offensive language. 
 
This Licensing Authority strongly advises that where music and alcohol sales are the 
main reasons for the event taking place, that persons under 18 years are not 

Page 21

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/


 

 9 

admitted unless the organisers have extremely robust procedures for ensuring those 
under 18 years do not have access to any alcohol – this includes sales, proxy sales, 
and bringing it onto the event. 

 
 

2.3.9   “Where there are events solely provided for young people, for example an Under 
18’s disco in a nightclub or similar relevant premises, the Licensing Authority 
strongly advises that adequate and sufficient measures are put in place so that 
young people cannot gain access alcohol or energy drinks and further that no 
alcohol is served to any supervising adults at such events.  The management of 
the premises should also ensure that measures are taken to prevent alcohol 
being brought onto those premises and lawful steps are taken to prevent 
attendees from leaving the premises without parental or guardian consent.” 

 
2.3.10 In particular, the Licensing Authority will consider what conditions are offered in 

the Operating Schedule. The applicant in completing the Operating Schedule is 
required to describe the steps they intend to take to promote this Licensing 
Objective and highlight any adult entertainment or services, etc. that may give 
rise to concern in respect of children. However, where the applicant does not 
state the steps they intend to take to promote this Objective but does state that 
“no adult or similar entertainment shall take place on the premise”’, the Licensing 
Authority shall consider that this restriction to be a condition on the 
Licence/certificate even though it may not state it on the Licence/Certificate itself. 

 

2.4  Licensing Hours  
 
2.4.1  With regard to licensing hours the Licensing Authority will consider each application 

on its individual merits.    
 
2.4.2  Applications for premises licences with a terminal hour later than 12 midnight, where 

the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the main activity or 
where the sale or supply of alcohol is accompanied by musical entertainment, will be 
subject to close scrutiny by the Responsible Authorities to ensure that there will be 
no adverse impact on the Licensing Objectives. Specifically, the applicant should 
ensure that the operating schedule for such premises demonstrates how the 
Licensing Objectives will be met.  This is a general policy and does not automatically 
mean that all applications will result in licences being granted until midnight or that no 
applications will be granted with a closing hour after midnight.  

 
2.4.3  In considering these issues the Licensing Authority will give careful consideration to 

the nature of the venue proposed.  For example, the Council is keen to promote 
establishments at which the service and consumption of alcohol is not the primary 
activity. These may include restaurants, theatres, cinemas, comedy clubs, galleries, 
museums, and similar venues.  The Licensing Authority’s experience is that such 
venues are liable to give rise to fewer public concerns in relation to later closing 
hours. 

 
2.4.4  The Licensing Authority will pay special regard to the proximity of residential 

properties to the proposed premises. Consideration will be given to the imposition of 
stricter noise control conditions, if representations are received in areas with a 
concentration of residential properties. 

 
2.4.5 Where the premises licence does not include Hours Open to the Public,the Licensing 

Authority will expect premises to be cleared of patrons within a reasonable time of 

Page 22



 

 10 

the terminal hour set for licensable activities.Where the premises licence does 
include Hours Open to the Public; the premises licence holder shall ensure that 
members of the public shall be off the premises by the finish time stated in operating 
schedule after the cessation of licensable activities except in such circumstances 
where premises are open for licensable activities where members of the public are 
not present such as fulfilling orders for the sale of alcohol off the premises. 

 
2.4.6 Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be free to provide sales of alcohol for 

consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open for 
shopping, unless there are good reasons for restricting those hours. An example 
would be where the Police make representations that the premises are a focus of 
disorder and disturbance. 

 

2.5 Late Night Levies (LNL) and Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO’S) 
 
2.5.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the PRSRA) has introduced 

the power for the Licensing Authority to charge a late night levy (“the levy”) to all 
premises within the South Somerset District.  

 
 

2.5.2 It also provides the Licensing Authority with the power to restrict the sale or supply of 
alcohol between the hours of midnight and 6am by introducing an Early Morning 
Restriction Order (“EMRO”) to tackle high levels of alcohol-related crime and 
disorder, nuisance and anti-social behaviour. 

 
 
2.5.3 Any decision to introduce an EMRO would consider: 
 

 The current Cumulative Impact Policy; 

 Taking a robust joint agency approach to tackling problem premises; 

 Prior to reviewing a licence/certificate, meeting with the DPS and 
licence/certificate holder to ensure a Premises Improvement Plan is in place.  

 Using other mechanisms to control the cumulative impact, e.g. planning controls; 

 Using other mechanisms to control noise and anti-social behaviour; 

 Police powers to closure premises; 

 Providing powers to designate parts of the local authority area as places where 
alcohol may not be consumed publicly; 

 police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

 Provision of CCTV; 

 Provision of night marshals and street pastors; introduction of a late night levy; 
 

The above is not an exhaustive list of possible measures. 
 

2.6  Late Night Refreshment  
 
2.6.1 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants for licences in respect of late night 

refreshment premises to detail in their operating schedules how they intend to 
promote the licensing objectives and in particular how they intend to address queue 
management, litter and noise disturbance. 

 
2.6.2 Where appropriate, and, in line with the Public Nuisance and Public Safety Licensing 

Objectives, the Licensing Authority may recommend that applicants display their 

Page 23



 

 11 

company name on containers and packaging; this will enable the Licensing Authority 
to identify any premises causing concern. 

 
2.6.3 The Licensing Authority expects that any premises providing late night refreshment 

will have a responsible policy for regularly clearing litter from outside their premises 
and for 25 metres along the pavement/curtilage of premises in either direction as 
necessary, whilst the premises are open and at the end of the working day. Such 
Policy could also include the display of notices advising customers to use the bins 
provided. In addition, where there is evidence that grease and food, etc. has 
emanated from the premises, the Licensing Authority recommends that the highway 
in the vicinity of the premises is swilled or scrubbed so as not to attract gulls, pigeons 
and vermin. The Licensing Authority recommends that all such inspections and 
action taken be recorded in the Premises Log Book. 

 

2.6.4 Where an applicant wishes to sell alcohol either on or off the premises in such an 
establishment or provide an alcohol delivery service, the Licensing Authority 
expects that the Operating Schedule will set out specific measures to ensure the 
prevention of Crime and Disorder and Public Nuisance in the vicinity of the 
premises. It also expects that a Challenge 25 Policy is adopted so that no alcohol 
is left with anyone under 18 years. Existing premises that seek to provide an 
alcohol delivery service are expected to notify the Licensing Authority that they 
are operating such a service setting out specific measures they intend to take to 
promote the licensing objectives and adopt a Challenge 25 Policy. 

 
 

3.0  Licensing Approach 

 
3.1  Partnership Working 
 
3.1.1  The Council recognises that Licensing functions under the Act are not the only 

means of promoting the principles behind the Licensing Objectives. Delivery includes 
working with Planning, Environmental Health, the Police, the Fire Authority, the 
Crime Reduction Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils, Pubwatch or similar 
schemes, local businesses and residents, Somerset County Council, transport 
operators and those involved with child protection. 

 
3.1.2  The Council recognises that co-operation across services within the Council and with 

our external partners remains the best means of promoting the Licensing Objectives. 
 

3.1.3 The Licensing Authority seeks to encourage and support the night-time economy by 
providing a vibrant and safe town centre experience. It shall work closely with the 
Responsible Authorities to deliver the licensing objectives, including the licensed 
trade, local people and businesses. The Licensing Authority will continue to work 
closely as part of these groups to promote the common objectives and shall 
recognise its duty under Section 17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 when 
carrying out its functions under the 2003 Act. In addition the Licensing Authority will 
seek to support strategies where they are allied to the licensing objectives such as 
the Government’s Alcohol Strategy and any other relevant strategies and policies. 
 

3.1.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that the private sector, local residents and 
community groups in particular have a vital role to play in promoting the licensing 
objectives. The Licensing Authority shall work closely with other enforcement 
agencies in the management of the night time economy, particularly relating to the 

Page 24



 

 12 

tackling of under age sales and proxy sales of alcohol and drunkenness or disorder 
on or in the immediate vicinity of the licensed premises. 

 

3.2 Cumulative Impact Policy 
 

3.2.1 Following consultation with Avon and Somerset Police on crime statistics in 
Yeovil and Chard town centres, the Licensing Authority no longer consider it 
appropriate and necessary to incorporate within this Policy Statement a 
Cumulative Impact Policy for the towns of Yeovil and Chard. The previous 
Cumulative Impact Policy has therefore been removed. 
 

3.3. Local Strategies and Policies 
 

3.3.1 Where appropriate, the Committee will take into account local strategies and policies. 
These will include: 

 

 Sustainable Community Strategy 

 Somerset Health & Well-Being Plan 
 

3.4  Integrating Strategies  
 
3.4.1  There are many stakeholders involved in the leisure industry and many are involved 

in the promotion of the licensing objectives. A number of stakeholders’ plans and 
strategies deal with matters related to the licensing function.  Where this is the case 
the Council will aim, as far as possible, to coordinate them.  

 
3.4.2  Cultural Strategy – The Council will monitor the impact of any decisions on the 

provision of regulated entertainment.  The aim is not to deter live music, but to 
ensure that the licensing objectives are promoted. The Council will monitor the effect 
of licensing on the provision of regulated entertainment, particularly live music and 
the performance of dance to ensure that any licensing conditions that impose any 
restrictions on such events are proportionate and reasonable. 

 
3.4.3  Racial Equality – The Council is required under race relations legislation to have due 

regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and to promote equality of 
opportunity and good relations between persons of different racial groups.  The 
impact of these issues on the Licensing Policy will be monitored and amendments 
will be made as necessary. 

 
3.4.4 Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority will also have regard to: 
 

 local crime prevention strategies; 

 needs of the local tourist economy; 

 employment situation in the area and the need for new investment and 
employment where appropriate; 

 needs of the local community 

 the duty on Public Authorities to eliminate unlawful discrimination;  

 the Economic Strategy  
 

3.5  Avoiding Duplication 
 
3.5.1  The Licensing Authority recognises the need to avoid, so far as possible, duplication 

with other regulatory regimes such as health and safety at work, fire safety, building 
control and planning. Conditions will not be imposed if the matters concerned are 

Page 25



 

 13 

already provided for in other legislation. However, other legislation may not always 
cover the unique circumstances that arise in connection with licensable activities and 
in such cases tailored conditions may be necessary but only if relevant 
representations are received. 

 

3.5.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that in accordance with Section 43 of the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, any conditions imposed by the 
Licensing Authority that relate to any requirements on prohibitions that are or 
could be imposed by that Order, shall have no effect. The Licensing Authority 
shall therefore not seek to impose fire safety conditions where the Order applies. 
 

3.5.3 In much the same way, the Indecent Displays (Control) Act 1981 prohibits the 
public display of indecent matter and the Licensing Authority shall therefore not 
seek to impose conditions concerning such displays inside or outside the 
premises. The existing laws governing indecency and obscenity are adequate to 
control adult entertainment of this nature. However, the Licensing Authority shall, 
if it considers necessary in certain premises, consider attaching conditions 
following a hearing addressing the exclusion of minors. 

 
3.5.4  Non-compliance with other statutory requirements may be taken into account in 

reaching a decision about whether or not to grant or vary a licence but only if relevant 
representations are received. 

 
3.5.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that the existence of planning permission, 

building regulation approval or pavement licences must be properly separated from 
licensing applications to avoid duplication and inefficiency. Similarly, the existence of 
a Premises Licence shall not prejudice the consideration of any planning, building 
regulation approval or pavement applications. However, the Licensing Authority shall 
expect applicants to have obtained the appropriate consents or licences prior to 
operation.  
 

3.5.6 Where the premises licence holders(s) has not obtained such consents or licences, 
they will be liable for enforcement action under the appropriate legislation. There may 
be circumstances when as a condition of planning permission a terminal hour is set 
for the use of commercial premises. Where these hours are different to the licensing 
hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing time to ensure that they are not 
in breach. Premises operating in breach of their Planning Permission or their 
premises licence/certificate may be liable to enforcement action by the Planning 
Authority or the Licensing Authority as appropriate. 

 

3.6 Representations 
 

3.6.1 Under the 2003 Act both Responsible Authorities and ‘other persons’ may make 
representations on licence/certificate applications and review existing premises 
licences/certificates.  
 

3.6.2  ‘Other persons’ is defined as any individual, body or business that may be 
affected by the operation of a licensed premise regardless of their geographical 
location. Although the other person may be in any geographical location, any 
representation they make must be relevant to one or more of the licensing 
objectives. In addition the other person is encouraged to provide evidence 
supporting their representation or review. This may be for example by way of 
recording dates where noise nuisance or anti-social behaviour occurs. Any 
representation however must be specific to the premises in question and not to 

Page 26



 

 14 

the area in general. The representation must also detail how the granting of the 
application is likely to affect the person making it. Representations may not be 
made by individuals on behalf of anyone else without their explicit consent and 
we would expect to see proof of this consent. 

 
3.6.3  The Licensing Authority will however consider the geographical location of the 

other person who has made the representation to see if in fact that it is a relevant 
and valid representation with supporting evidence and weigh it accordingly. 

 
3.6.4  In addition all representations must be relevant relating to the likely effect of the 

grant of the licence/certificate on the promotion of at least one of the licensing 
objectives. The Licensing Authority will determine whether a representation from 
an individual, body or business is relevant, frivolous, repetitive or vexatious. In 
borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt will be given to the person or body 
making that representation. 

 

3.7 Conditions 

 
3.7.1 Where conditions are imposed at a licensing hearing, they shall be appropriate 

and proportionate and shall be tailored to the size, style, characteristics and 
activities that take place at the premises concerned. However, the Licensing 
Authority accepts that Responsible Authorities may suggest conditions following 
negotiation with the applicant when completing their Operating Schedules. 

 
3.7.2 In addition conditions imposed by a Licensing Authority shall be precise and 

enforceable, clear in what they intend to achieve, shall not duplicate other 
statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on the employer 
by other legislation, shall not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other 
legislation, shall be justifiable and capable of being met and shall not seek to 
manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence/certificate holder and their staff. 

 
3.7.3 The Licensing Authority recommends that conditions volunteered in the Operating 

Schedule should be: 
 

 Targeted on the deterrence and prevention of crime and disorder 

 Appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 Proportionate and enforceable; 

 Consistent and not conflicting; 

 Relevant, clear and concise;  

 Not duplicate other legislation; and 

 Expressed in plain language capable of being understood by those expected to 
comply with them. 

 
3.7.4 The Licensing Authority when preparing the licences/certificates shall not simply 

replicate the wording from an applicant’s Operating Schedule but will interpret 
conditions in accordance with the applicant’s overall intentions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 

 15 

3.8  Enforcement  
 
3.8.1  South Somerset District Council’s Regulatory Services, which includes the Licensing 

Authority, have adopted an Enforcement Policy. This policy seeks to communicate 
and explain the approach to dealing with non-compliance to businesses, residents, 
and others affected by our enforcement activities. The policy incorporates the 
Regulators’ Code and is available on the Council’s website 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk. This policy has been developed following guidance 
issued by the Better Regulation Delivery Office and in consultation with stakeholders. 
It is influenced by good enforcement practice, current legislation, guidance and 
statutory codes of practice. SSDC aims to deliver the services above by avoiding 
unnecessary regulatory burdens and enforcement. Wherever possible SSDC will 
work closely with businesses and other organisations to assist them in meeting their 
legal obligations, without unnecessary expense. The council will only intervene where 
there is a clear case for action.  

 
Enforcement action will be: 

 

 Targeted toward those premises presenting the highest risk; 

 Proportional to the nature and seriousness of the risk those premises present; 

 Consistent, so that the Licensing Authority takes similar approaches in similar 
situations; 

 Transparent, so those who are subject to enforcement action know what to expect; 
and 

 Accountable, so that the Licensing Authority and its officers take responsibility for 
their actions. 

 
 
3.8.2  The Council intends to use appropriate enforcement to promote the licensing 

objectives. Once licensed, it is essential that premises are monitored to ensure that 
they are run in accordance with their operating schedules, in compliance with the 
specific requirements of the Act and any licence conditions. It will also monitor the 
District for unlicensed activities that may or may not require authorisation.  

 
3.8.3 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with Avon and Somerset Police, 

Devon, Plymouth, Somerset and Torbay Trading Standards Service and Devon and 
Somerset Fire and Rescue Service on enforcement issues to ensure an efficient 

deployment of resources. Where official warnings are given prior to any decision to 
prosecute for an offence, the Licensing Authority shall ensure that these 
enforcement authorities are informed of these warnings and the result of any 
action taken. 
 

3.8.4 In order to ensure compliance with the law and licensing conditions, the Licensing 
Authority will also carry out whenever possible unscheduled ‘non routine’ evening 
inspections with Avon and Somerset Police. After each visit, the Designated 
Premises Supervisor and Premises Licence Holder shall be notified of any 
concerns and be given an opportunity to rectify any issues. 

 

3.8.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that most Licence Holders seek to comply 
with the law and any enforcement action will normally follow a graduated 
approach and in the first instance will include education and support. Where 
licence holders continue to flout the law or act irresponsibly firm action will be 
taken. 

 

Page 28



 

 16 

3.8.6 Premises inspections will take place as required based on consideration of risk 
and/or based on intelligence received. It should be the case that higher risk 
premises be viewed as higher priority for such contact, whilst lower risk premises, 
that are well managed and run, will benefit from a lighter touch. 

 
3.8.7 The Licensing Authority may seek to meet with the licence or certificate holder 

and/or DPS working closely with them and relevant Responsible Authorities in 
implementing a Premise Improvement Plan where appropriate. 

 
3.8.8 Where the premise does not comply with an agreed Improvement Plan and 

continues to breach the licensing laws and/or licence conditions, the Licensing 
Authority will consider further sanctions, either by way of a review, formal caution 
or prosecution. In any event, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
SSDC Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy.  

 
3.8.9 Where one off events are taking place, the Licensing Authority may also carry out 

inspections to ensure the Licensing Objectives are being promoted. Inspections 
shall be carried out in accordance with the principles of risk assessment and 
targeting problem premises. 

 
3.8.10 In addition, the Licensing Authority will conduct checks to ensure that official 

notices for new applications, varied applications, reviews and minor variations are 
accurate and clearly displayed. Notices for reviews shall be displayed at or near 
the site of the premises, and where there are concerns these shall be regularly 
checked and recorded. 

 
3.8.11 Any decision to instigate legal proceedings will take account of the criteria set down 

in the Code of Crown Prosecution and Attorney General Guidelines. 
 

3.9 Complaints Against Licensed Premises 
 

3.9.1 Complainants are advised, whenever possible, in the first instance to raise their 
complaint directly with the licensee in order to resolve the matter. The Licensing 
Authority, however, recognises that it is not always possible or practical for 
complaints to be raised directly. In such circumstances, complaints in the first 
instance should be addressed to: The Lead Specialist - Environment, South 
Somerset District Council, The Council Offices, Brympton Way Yeovil, BA20 2HT 
or e-mail licensing@southsomerset.gov.uk   

 
3.9.2 It is expected that all noise-related complaints are initially raised with the 

Council’s Environmental Protection Service and complaints regarding unlicensed 
activities and operating outside the permitted hours are raised with the Lead 
Specialist - Environment. 

 
3.9.3 On receipt of a complaint, the Specialist - Licensing Officer shall investigate the 

circumstances, discussing the complaint with the Designated Premises Supervisor of 
the licensed premises, the Premises Licence holder, any Relevant Responsible 

Authority and the complainant. Where it is a valid complaint, the Licensing 
Authority shall endeavour to seek a resolution through informal means prior to 
taking any legal action. 
 

3.9.4 The Lead Specialist - Environment is responsible for considering complaints in 
the context of this Policy and will determine whether or not it is a relevant 

Page 29

mailto:licensing@southsomerset.gov.uk


 

 17 

complaint. They will authorise suitably qualified officers to discharge enforcement 
duties as appropriate to their seniority, professional qualifications and/or 
experience in order to resolve any complaint. 
 

3.9.5 Where there is a serious complaint, the Director - Service Delivery, the Lead 
Specialist - Environment and Specialist - Licensing Officers shall ensure that it is 
investigated and enforcement action taken where necessary. The Licensing 
Authority shall act in accordance with the Enforcement Policy available on the 
Council’s web site or from Licensing Services and in accordance with the 
Regulators’ Compliance Code: Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators. 
 

3.9.6 The Licensing Authority recognises that this Policy and the promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives relies on partnership between all the parties. Therefore, 
where there are any concerns identified at the premises, or there is need for 
improvement, the Licensing Authority shall work closely with the parties at an 
early stage to address these concerns. 
 

3.10  Live Music, Dancing and Theatre  
 
3.10.1  The Council recognises the need to encourage and promote a broad range of 

entertainment, particularly live music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural 
benefit of the community and in particular for children and young people. 

  
3.10.2  When considering applications for such events and the imposition of any conditions if 

representations are received on licences or certificates, the Licensing Authority will 
carefully balance the need to promote the licensing objectives against these wider 
cultural benefits.  

 
3.10.3 When considering whether an activity constitutes the provision of regulated 

entertainment each case will be treated on its own merit. Live music is a 
performance of live music in the presence of an audience that it is intended to 
entertain; it can for example include the playing of some recorded music and may 
be part of the performance of amplified live music. As there will inevitably be a 
degree of judgement as to whether a performance is live music or not organisers 
of events are encouraged to consult with the Licensing Authority if in doubt. The 
Licensing Authority is aware of the changes made to the Licensing Act 2003 by 
the Live Music Act 2012 including amending statutory instruments1  and the 
Deregulation Act 2015 so that in prescribed circumstances, live music, 
performance of dance and plays are not classed as a licensable activity. 

 
 

4.0  Administrative Issues 
 

The Licensing Authority will accept online and electronic applications; however 
applications will not be treated as valid until all relevant documents have been 
received together with the appropriate fee.  
 
All hard copy applications will be treated in line with the relevant regulations and 
all applications and relevant documentation must continue to be submitted in their 

                                                 
1 SI 2013 No. 1578 The Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment) Order 2013; The 

Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 

Page 30



 

 18 

entirety and not in piecemeal form to avoid the potential for any errors or 
confusion. 

 

As the Regulations require advertising of all new and full variation applications, 
the Licensing Authority recommends that the applicant contact them prior to 
displaying the statutory notice or advertising the application in a local paper 
circulating in the vicinity of the premises. This will ensure that an accurate 
consultation date will be given which will avoid any errors and the potential of a 
breach of the regulations that would result in the application being rejected or 
delayed. 

 
 
4.1 Premises Licence  
 
4.1.1 The Premises Licence application outlines the operating conditions and the 

Operating Schedule that will form the basis of conditions that will be attached to 
the Licence. It should include information that is necessary to enable any 
responsible authority or other person to assess whether the steps to be taken to 

promote the licensing objectives are satisfactory.  The Licensing Authority shall 
expect the applicant to have carefully considered the promotion of all four 
Licensing Objectives in their Operating Schedule. 

 
4.1.2 It is recommended that applicants liaise with neighbours and/or any relevant 

community group such as a local residents association, or other such groups, as may 
be appropriate prior to submitting an application. 

 
4.1.3 The Licensing Authority especially recommends that applicant liaise with the 

Relevant Authorities prior to submitting their applications, e.g. police or fire authority, 
when compiling their operating schedules and the local pubwatch if one operates in 
that area. 

 
4.1.4 In completing their Operating Schedule the Licensing Authority suggest the applicant 

considers the following: 
 

General 
 

 Premises log book 

 Management and staff training and awareness of duties under the Licensing Act 

 Policies and procedures relating to e.g. age restricted sales, capacity, noise 
monitoring, dispersal, queuing, etc. 

 Safe capacities 

 Evidence of competent management procedures 

 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 

 Drugs policy 

 CCTV 

 Pub Watch and Radio links with other licensed premises 

 Security Industry Authority Door supervisors and Approved Contractor Scheme 

 Polycarbonate or shatterproof vessels 

 Frequency of glass bottle disposal and provision of secure storage before 
collection 

 An appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers 

Page 31



 

 19 

 Management of outside areas 

 Use of ‘spikeys’ or similar anti drink spiking device 

 Calming atmosphere at close of business/event 

 Safe capacities 

 Queuing policy 

 Stewards for events and event plan 

 Control of nitrous oxides 

 
Public Safety 

 

 Health and Safety and Fire Safety risk assessments and staff training  

 Safeguarding measures 

 Use of CCTV in and around the premises 

 Safe capacities and monitoring procedures 

 Provision of local taxi companies who can provide safe transportation home 

 Procedures to control access to and egress from premises 

 Patrolling of premises 

 Glass clearance policy  

 Control of ventilation 

 Control of litter immediately outside the premises 

 The presence of trained first aiders and appropriate & sufficient first aid kits 

 Adequate external lighting 

 Consideration of the safety of performers appearing at any premises 

 Indoor sporting events: medical practitioner; flame retardant material, location of 
public to wrestling ring; water sports events – lifeguards 

 Stewards for events and event plan; and regard to standards of the National 
Sporting Body 

 Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services 

 
Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 

 Control of general noise, disturbance, light, odour, litter and anti-social behaviour 

 Whilst regulated entertainment taking place, management of noise disturbance 

 Control of litter (e.g. cigarette ends, rubbish, etc.), vomiting, urinating and anti-
social behaviour in the vicinity of the premises 

 Dispersal policy to ensure customers respect their neighbours 

 Removal of persons causing disturbance 

 Management of outside areas, e.g. pub gardens, smokers, etc. 

 Control of deliveries in early hours 

 Queuing policy 

 Winding down period 

 
 

Protection of Children from Harm 
 

 Refusals book 

 Consideration of access to premises where adult entertainment may take place 

 Consideration to proximity of premises to schools and youth clubs 

 Restriction on hours when children under a specified age can be present and 
whether they should be accompanied by a responsible  adult 

 Clarity on activities and times at which events take place to determine whether or 
not it is appropriate to allow access to children 

Page 32



 

 20 

 Challenge 21 or 25 policy 

 Prompting mechanism on tills at retail outlets 

 Measures to control access to hotel minibars 

 Operational measures to avoid proxy purchases 

 How to prevent children from being exposed to alcohol sales at under age 
events, gambling, incidents of violence and disorder and drugs or drug taking 

 Consideration of safeguarding issues 

 Consideration of children as performers where relevant 

 Supervision of children 

 Under 18 event Code of Conduct, for example: searches, ticketed event, door 
supervisors, DBS checks, stewards monitoring event, set hours for event, 
restricted event, policy to ensure young people leave premise safely, etc. 

 
These lists are not exhaustive and advice can be obtained from the relevant 
responsible authorities. However, applicants are reminded again to contact the 
relevant Responsible Authorities to seek their expert advice before an application 
is submitted to the Licensing Authority. 
 
 

4.2 Garages 
 

4.2.1 With regard to the licensing of garages, and/or filling stations, Section 176 of the 
2003 Act prohibits the sale or supply of alcohol from premises that are used 
primarily as a garage. However, the Licensing Authority will use the court’s 
approach based on intensity of use, to establish primary use. Where such 
applications are submitted, the Licensing Authority will expect sufficient relevant 
evidence to accompany the application form to prove the issue of primary use. 
Where there is any doubt the – Licensing specialist will determine whether or not 
any premises are used primarily as a garage. 
 

4.3 Mobile Premises and Temporary Structures 
 

4.3.1 Where licensable activities take place in mobile vehicles, a Premises Licence will 
be required for the land upon which the vehicle operates. The Operating 
Schedule must indicate the specific pitch from where trading is to take place. 

 
4.3.2 As this type of premises is likely to cause people to congregate, the Licensing 

Authority shall expect applicants to demonstrate specific measures to prevent 
Crime and Disorder and Public Nuisance. In addition, the Licensing Authority 
shall expect the applicant to consider specific measures to ensure that litter from 
such premises is regularly disposed of and that the licensee has adopted a Litter 
Policy as set out above. 

 
4.3.3 Where temporary structures are used for licensable activities they shall be shown 

on plan of the premises as the location where they will take place. Once a 
premises licence has been granted, the location of those structures may not 
change until an application for a full or minor variation of the premises licence has 
been submitted and granted. 
 

 
 
 

Page 33



 

 21 

4.4  Temporary Event Notices 
 
4.4.1 The Act states that the premises user must give the Licensing Authority a minimum 

of 10 working days’ notice for a standard temporary event notice and  between 5 and 
9 working days’ for a late temporary event notice. The ‘working day’ requirement 
means that the day of receipt of the notice, Saturdays or Sundays, Bank Holidays, or 
the day of the event are not included as a working day.  

 
4.4.2 Premises users are advised to submit their TENS well before the date of the event 

(ideally 28 days beforehand). When serving TEN’s in a hard copy format, the 
premises user should serve the notice on the Licensing Authority, Police and the 
Environmental Protection team at the same time to avoid a situation where one of the 
bodies does not receive their copy within the statutory timescale, which could mean 
that the event cannot proceed even if the other bodies have received their copy in 
time. 

  
4.4.3 It is a legal requirement for all organisers to prepare Health and Safety and Fire 

Safety Risk Assessments with regard to their event. Guidance on how to conduct 
such risk assessments may be obtained from the relevant enforcing authority. The 
Licensing Authority may notify the Fire Authority of any TENS submitted so that they 
can offer advice to event organisers if necessary. Members of the Safety Advisory 
Group may also be notified of any TENs for similar reasons. Organisers are 
recommended to give thought to the provision of first aid at such events. It should be 
noted that if the Fire Authority is of the opinion that the use of premises/venue 
involves, or will involve, a risk to relevant persons so serious, including anything 
affecting their escape from the premises in the event of fire, the Fire Authority may 
prohibit or restrict premises use without notice. 

 

4.4.4 The Authority strongly recommends that premises users address the following 
issues: -  

 

 Applicants are strongly advised to consider and mitigate the potential impact in 
terms of public nuisance, i.e. noise, vehicle parking of attendees, traffic.  

 Seek relevant professional advice on public liability insurance.  

 Seek relevant professional advice on noise, public safety, sanitation, food 
hygiene, health & safety and fire safety matters.  Liaise with local residents and 
businesses that may be affected by the event, to raise awareness of the nature 
and duration of the event.  

 Seek relevant professional advice on medical provision.  

 Ensure that the event site and environs are maintained free of litter to a 
reasonable extent during an event and completely cleared following an event. 
This includes the removal of all advertising material used to promote events, 
within a reasonable period.  

Consider the conditions attached to a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate and manage the event in accordance with such conditions, where 
appropriate. (This is to mitigate the potential for adverse impacts on the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives and/or complaints).  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 22 

4.5  Personal Licences & Exemption of Designated Premises Supervisor 
 
4.5.1 The Licensing Authority places particular emphasis on the role of premises 

supervisors and licensees and where the Police object on the grounds of prevention 
of crime and disorder there will be a presumption against issuing a personal licence 
to any applicant with an unspent conviction for a relevant offence. If the applicant can 
demonstrate exceptional and compelling reasons for disregarding the conviction, this 
will be taken into consideration. 

 
4.5.2 The Licensing Authority advises that it is good practice for the Personal Licence 

holder to give specific written and dated authorisation to individuals to demonstrate 
due diligence. Whilst the Designated Premises Supervisor (“the DPS”) and Personal 
Licence Holder may authorise sales in their absence, they still remain responsible for 
those sales. Similarly, the Premises Licence Holder also remains responsible for 
ensuring that the licensing law and conditions are complied with at that premises. 
Any authorisations should be meaningful and properly managed. 

 
4.5.3 Where a Premises Licence is in force authorising the supply of alcohol, a DPS will 

need to be nominated. The main purpose of the DPS is to ensure that there is always 
one specified individual who can be readily identified by Responsible Authorities as 
the individual who has day-to-day responsibility for running the business and who 
can therefore ensure that any problems are dealt with swiftly. As such the DPS will 
occupy a pivotal position. Experience has proved that in some cases the Premises 
Licence Holder has employed a DPS who is remote from the premises and therefore 
not involved in the day-to-day running of that premise; the Licensing Authority will 
therefore pay particular attention to those premises. 

 
4.5.4 Whilst the Licensing Authority recognises that a DPS may supervise more than one 

premise, the DPS must be able to ensure that the four Licensing Objectives are 
promoted and that the licensing law and licensing conditions are complied with. 
Where the DPS is not available at the premises for whatever reason, the Licensing 
Authority recommends a responsible individual is nominated who can deal with 
matters in the absence of the DPS. In addition, the Licensing Authority recommends 
that a notice is displayed prominently indicating the name and position of that 
nominated person. Whenever alcohol is to be sold it is recommended that written and 
dated consent be given to that nominated person. 

 
4.5.5 Experience has indicated that a number of Personal Licence Holders have failed to 

produce their Personal Licence to the court in accordance with Section 128 of the 
2003 Act. In view of this the Licensing Authority will take appropriate action against 
those who continue to fail to notify the courts and/or provide notification of their 
change of address in accordance with their statutory duty. 

 
Exemption of DPS 
 
4.5.6 Where a community premises applies for an exemption from the requirement to have 

a DPS, the Licensing Authority must be satisfied that arrangements for the 
management of the premises by their Committee or Board of individuals are sufficient 
to ensure the adequate supervision of the supply of alcohol on the premises. The 
applicant will be required to set out how the premise is managed, its committee 
structure and how the supervision of alcohol sales is conducted. Copies of the 
Constitution and other management documents must be submitted. The 
management committee is strongly encouraged to notify the Licensing Authority if 
there are any key changes in the committee’s composition as this committee will 
collectively be responsible for ensuring compliance with licence conditions and 

Page 35



 

 23 

licensing law. Where management arrangements are unclear, the Licensing 
Authority may seek further details to confirm that the management board or 
committee is properly constituted and accountable. While overall responsibility 
lies with the management committee where premises are hired out, the hirer will 
be clearly identified as having responsibilities falling within their control. 
Community premises are encouraged to check with the Licensing Authority 
before making any application. 

 

4.6 Large Scale Events 
 

4.6.1 Large Scale events of a temporary or more permanent nature will generally require 
detailed planning, it is therefore recommended that applicants engage with the 
Responsible Authorities, the Safety Advisory Group, local Town & Parish Councils 
and residents as early as possible in the planning process; this should ensure that 
applicants are aware of potential issues and have already addressed them prior to 
submission of their application.  Such an approach in effect, lengthens the statutory 
consultation period as there is a considerable amount of work for all parties involved 
and reduces the number of issues/uncertainties once in the formal process. 

 
4.6.2 It is strongly recommended that applications for Large Scale events are submitted no 

later than the timescales given below:  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6.3  If less notice is given by an applicant, they may have insufficient time to respond fully 

to representations that may have been submitted; this is particularly relevant where 
Responsible Authorities and/or other persons take the view that an application is 
lacking in detail and substance, which can lead to the licensing process becoming 
drawn out in the lead up to the proposed event. This can lead to pressures on an 
organiser in the crucial lead up time to an event itself and could lead to the refusal of 
the licence. 

 
4.6.4  These events have significant potential to undermine the promotion of the Licensing 

Objectives, due to their sheer size and complexity. The Authority believes that this 
risk can only be adequately mitigated by the submission of an up to date, relevant, 
detailed and complete operating schedule that is specific to the proposed event on 
each separate occasion or for a specific period less than permanent. 

 
4.6.5  Applicants must be mindful that although it is possible for an operating schedule to 

be drawn sufficiently widely to encompass a range of events under a licence, there is 
a possibility that it will lack sufficient specific detail to enable responsible authorities 
to come to a balanced judgment as to whether the licensing objectives will be placed 
at risk and as to whether the mitigation measures proposed will be sufficient to avert 
that risk.  Further, the potential for adverse impacts can vary significantly between 

Maximum number of 
attendees at any time 

Minimum notice period  

500 - 999 Not less than 3 months 

1000 - 2999 Not less than 4 months 

3000 - 4999 Not less than 5 months 

5000 - 9999 Not less than 6 months 

10000 - 49999 Not less than 7 months 

50000 + Not less than 8 months 

Page 36



 

 24 

events even when planned at the same premises; applicants are therefore advised to 
provide as much detail as possible for each type of event. 

 
4.6.6  Applicants are expected to rely most heavily on their own competence and 

knowledge or that of persons/ bodies that they employ in making their plans. They 
cannot and should not rely on the input of the Responsible Authorities to ensure that 
detailed and comprehensive plans for their event are produced. The demands on the 
Responsible Authorities can be disproportionate to their resources, this might place 
undue pressure on such bodies, undermining the level of scrutiny of such 
applications.It must be considered that the legal responsibilities connected to holding 
such events primarily rest with the applicant, organiser and landowner.  

 
4.6.7  Where an applicant does not consider such advice and guidance before making an 

application this can place Responsible Authorities and/or Other Persons in a difficult 
position due to the fact that many aspects of an application may be lacking and it 
may not allow full and proper consideration of the proposals during the objection 
period. This may undermine their full and proper consideration of an application. 

 
4.6.8  Where relevant representations are received in respect of an application for a 

premises licence/club premises certificate, the Authority will consider, amongst other 
matters, whether the operating schedule a) defines the events proposed with 
sufficient certainty to enable Responsible Authorities and the Authority itself to 
consider the risks to the licensing objectives arising from the event; b) defines the 
measures proposed to avert those risks with sufficient certainty to enable 
Responsible Authorities and the Licensing Authority itself to make a balanced 
judgment as to whether the measures will be sufficient to avert those risks. The 
authority will generally require a high degree of particularity before deciding that the 
operating schedule fulfils this requirement but will decide that matter on the merits of 
each case.   

 
4.6.9  Where the Authority judges that the operating schedule is not drafted with sufficient 

certainty, the application will normally be refused, save in exceptional circumstances. 
It is unlikely that the circumstances will be considered exceptional unless they give 
assurance that the licensing objectives will be met despite the lack of certainty in the 
operating schedule and therefore in the conditions of the licence.  

 
4.6.10 Where the Authority judges that the operating schedule is drafted with sufficient 

certainty, then in deciding the application, the Authority will take account of any risks 
arising from the temporary nature of the event(s) proposed in the application. 

 
4.6.11 Organisers should be able to demonstrate that they have had regard to ‘The Event 

Safety Guide – also known as the ‘Purple Guide’ and that they have carried out risk 
assessments suitable for the event; it can be found at: 
http://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/       

 

4.7 Sustainable Event Management 
 
4.7.1 Events can impact heavily on our resources, society, and the environment, as they 

can generate significant waste, put a strain on local resources like water or energy, 
and generate large volumes of traffic. It is, therefore, important that event organisers 
are taking the right steps to integrate sustainability into their event management and 
ensure that they are organised responsibly. As such, the Council encourages event 
organisers to take the necessary steps to develop proposals that are conscious of 
the Council’s Environment Strategy following its recognition of the Climate and 

Page 37

http://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/


 

 25 

Ecological Emergency, by way of demonstrating what steps will be taken to ensure 
the environmental impacts of the event are kept to a minimum.  

 
4.7.2 It is highly recommended that event organisers consider the following points:  
 

1. Banning single use plastic glasses/cups in the bars and look to use reusable 
receptacles.  
2. Encourage non fossil fuel powered events, including any caterers.  
3. Alcohol sourced from local brewers/suppliers to keep bars with a lower carbon 
footprint.  
4. High recycling rates, a target of 70% plus, which could be evidenced from 
weighbridge tickets provided by recycling transfer stations. 

 

4.8 Reviews of Licence or Club Premises Certificate 
 

4.8.1 The Licensing Act 2003 details that where a premises licence or club premises 
certificate has effect, a responsible authority or another person may apply to the 
relevant licensing authority for a review of the licence. Nothing in this Policy shall 
restrict their right to apply for a review of a licence or make relevant representations 
in accordance with the Act, however the licensing authority may, at any time, reject 
any ground for review specified in an application under this section if it is satisfied 
that the ground is not relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives, or in the 
case of an application made by a person other than a responsible authority, that the 
ground is frivolous or vexatious, or the ground is a repetition. 

 
4.8.2 Where a person or body is considering making an application for a review, they are 

advised to contact the Licensing Team. This is so that the Licensing Authority may 
provide some initial feedback on the matter and then, if appropriate, attempt to 
facilitate a meeting or a series of meetings between relevant persons and bodies to 
consider alternative solutions and/or discuss the review process. 

 
4.8.3 Applicants should make all reasonable efforts to set out their concerns regarding an 

authorisation concisely and clearly, and ensure that these concerns are relevant to a 
failure to promote the Licensing Objectives. 

 
4.8.4 Examples of triggers for a review may be: continual complaints of noise from or in the 

vicinity of the premises; continual complaints of noise or intimidation from customers 
outside the premises; an accumulation of breaches of licensing conditions; poor 
management where the licensing objectives are undermined; underage sales of 
alcohol (persistent or otherwise); crime-related activity; anti-social behaviour; sales of 
alcohol outside of the permitted hours, etc. 

 
4.8.5 The Licensing Authority shall expect applicants for a review to gather sufficient and 

relevant evidence relating to the specific premises that is subject to the review. This 
may include a diary of events and any potential witnesses. With regard to reviews on 
noise complaints, applicants are encouraged to liaise with the Council’s 
Environmental Protection team who may be able to assist with and support the 
review process. 

 
4.8.6 Prior to a review, however, Avon and Somerset Police, other Responsible Authorities 

or the Licensing Authority may seek to meet with the licence/certificate holder to 
address issues through a premises improvement plan. 

 

 

Page 38



 

 26 

4.9 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions 
 
4.9.1  The Council has a Licensing Committee, consisting of 15 elected members, to carry 

out its licensing functions and to make licensing decisions, except those functions 
relating to the making of a Statement of Licensing Policy.  

 
4.9.2  In the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-effectiveness the Committee will 

delegate certain decisions and functions to Sub-Committees and Licensing 
specialists. 

 
4.9.3  For example, where there are no relevant representations on an application for the 

grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate or Police objection to an 
application for a personal licence, these matters should be dealt with by Licensing 
specialists. 

 
4.9.4  The following table sets out the agreed delegation of decisions and functions to the 

Licensing Committee, Sub-Committees and Licensing specialists. 
 
4.9.5  This scheme of delegation does not prevent the referral of matters to a higher 

authority if considered appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case. 
 

 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

SUB-
COMMITTEE OR 
FULL 
COMMITTEE IF 
APPROPRIATE 

 LIENSING 
SPECIALISTS 

Application for personal 
licence, with no relevant 
convictions, or with spent 
relevant convictions 

 
 

 
 

Application for personal 
licence, with unspent 
convictions 

 
 If a Police 
representation is 
made and not 
withdrawn 

 

Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate 

 
If a 
representation is 
made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Application for 
provisional statement 

 
If a 
representation is 
made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Application to vary 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 
If a 
representation is 
made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Application to vary 
designated premises 
supervisor 

 
If a police 
objection is made 
and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Request to be removed 
as designated premises 

 
 

 
 

Page 39



 

 27 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

SUB-
COMMITTEE OR 
FULL 
COMMITTEE IF 
APPROPRIATE 

 LIENSING 
SPECIALISTS 

supervisor 

Application for transfer of 
premises licence 

 
If a police 
/Secretary of 
State objection is 
made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Application for interim 
authority 

 
If a 
police/Secretary 
of State objection 
is made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Application to review 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 

 
 

 

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious, etc 

   

 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 
relevant authority 
considering the 
application 

 

 
 

 

Determination of a police 
or environmental 
protection objection to a 
temporary event notice 

 

 
 

 

Imposition of existing 
conditions on a standard 
TEN (s106A LA03) 

 

 
 

 

Determination of 
application to vary 
licence at community 
premises to include 
alternative licence 
condition 

 If Police objection 
made and not 
withdrawn 

All other cases 

Decision on whether to 
consult other 
Responsible Authorities 
on Minor Variation 
application 

  
Lead Specialist 
– Environment 
or their deputy 
in their 
absence 

Page 40



 

 28 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

SUB-
COMMITTEE OR 
FULL 
COMMITTEE IF 
APPROPRIATE 

 LIENSING 
SPECIALISTS 

Application for a Minor 
Variation 

  
If 
representation(
s) made and 
not withdrawn 
– Lead 
Specialist - 
Environment 

Acting as a Responsible 
Authority on behalf of the 
Licensing Authority 

  Lead Specialist 
- Environment 
or their deputy 
in their 
absence 

Suspension of a 
Premises licence of Club 
premises Certificate for 
non-payment of annual 
fee 

  Lead Specialist 
– Environment 
or their deputy 
in their 
absence 

Specify the date on 
which suspension takes 
effect (min 2 working 
days) 

  Lead Specialist 
– Environment 
or their deputy 
in their 
absence 

Licensing Policy 
Approval 

 
 

  

Decision to make, vary 
or revoke an Early 
Morning Restriction 
Order 

 

 

  

Decision on whether or 
not an EMRO is 
appropriate 

 
 

 

 

Decision to introduce, 
vary or end a late night 
levy 

 

 

  

Other decisions relating 
to administration and 
design of levy 

 
 

 

 

 

4.9.6 Members of the Licensing Committee) will comply with the South Somerset 
District Council Code of Conduct for Councillors and will declare any personal or 
prejudicial interest in any matter coming before them in accordance with the 
Code. Members with a prejudicial interest will have the opportunity to speak as 

Page 41



 

 29 

any member of the public (i.e. only where they make relevant representations) is 
permitted but will withdraw from the room in which the meeting is being held 
immediately after speaking and will not seek to improperly influence the decision.  

 
4.9.7 Members of the Licensing Committee who make representations on behalf of any 

Other Person or in their own right as a member of the Licensing Authority will not 
sit on the Committee or any Sub-Committee making any decision in relation to 
the matter in question, nor take any other part in the decision-making process 

 
 

4.10 Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority 
 
4.10.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 amended the 2003 Act to 

include the Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority. This Licensing Authority 
is therefore empowered to fulfil the same functions as other Responsible Authorities 
under the Act including making relevant representations to new licence/certificate 
applications and variations and reviewing an existing licence/certificate. 

 
4.10.2 The Licensing Authority will however not normally act on behalf of other parties (e.g. 

local residents, councillors or community groups) as such parties may make relevant 
representations in their own right. However, if these parties fail to take action and the 
Licensing Authority is aware of relevant grounds to make a representation, it may in 
these circumstances choose to act in its capacity as a Responsible Authority. 
However, before the Licensing Authority acts in this capacity it will expect other 
Responsible Authorities to intervene where the basis for that intervention falls within 
their remit. The Licensing Authority recognises that each Responsible Authority has 
equal standing under the 2003 Act and has the power to act independently without 
waiting for representations from any other Responsible Authority. 

 
4.10.3 In cases where the Licensing Authority is also acting in its capacity as a Responsible 

Authority it will ensure that there is a separation of responsibilities within the Council 
to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflict of interests. The Licensing 
specialist  reporting to the Licensing Sub Committee shall be different from the officer 
who is acting as the Responsible Authority. 

 

Page 42



 

 30 

APPENDIX A      

GLOSSARY OF TERMINOLOGY 
 

Cumulative Impact Where there is a potential impact on the promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives of a significant number of licensed premises 
concentrated in one area. 

Club Premises Certificate means a certificate granted to a qualifying club under the Act in 
respect of premises occupied, and habitually used for the 
purposes of a club. Alcohol must not be supplied other than to 
members by or on behalf of the club.  

Hot food or hot drink food or drink supplied on or from any premises is “hot” for the 
purposes of Schedule 2 to the Act if the food or drink, or any part 
of it: 

(i) before it is supplied, is heated on the premises or elsewhere for 
the purpose of enabling it to be consumed at a temperature above 
the ambient air temperature and, at the time of supply, is above 
that temperature, or 

(ii) after it is supplied, may be heated on the premises for the 
purpose of enabling it to be consumed at a temperature above the 
ambient air temperature. 

Licensable activities and 
qualifying club activities 

are defined in the Licensing Act as: 

(i) the sale by retail of alcohol 

(ii) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the 
order of, a member of the club 

(iii) the provision of regulated entertainment 

(iv) the provision of late night refreshment - for those purposes the 
following licensable activities are also qualifying club activities: 

(i) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the 
order of, a member of the club for consumption on the 
premises where the supply takes place 

(ii) the sale by retail of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to a 
guest of a member of the club for consumption on the 
premises where the sale takes place 

(iii) the provision of regulated entertainment where that 
provision is by or on behalf of a club for members of the club 
or members of the club and their guests. 

Operating Schedule means a document that must be prepared by or on behalf of an 
applicant for a premises licence or club premises certificate 
containing a statement including the following matters: 

 the relevant licensable activities 

 the times at which licensable activities are to take place and 
any other times the premises are to be open to the public 

 information about the Designated Premises Supervisor (if any) 

 whether any alcohol sales are on and/or off sales (if any) 

Page 43



 

 31 

 the steps being taken to promote the licensing objectives. 

Other Persons any individual, body or business affected by the operation of a 
licensed premises, regardless of their geographical proximity to 
the premises 

Personal Licence authorises an individual to supply or authorise the supply of 
alcohol in accordance with a premises licence. 

Premises Licence authorises the premises to be used for one or more licensable 
activities. 

Provision of late night 
refreshment 

is defined as the provision of hot food or hot drink to members of 
the public, or a section of the public on or from any premises, 
whether for consumption on or off the premises between 11 pm 
and 5 am or, 

at any time between those hours when members of the public, or 
a section of the public, are admitted to any premises, a person 
supplies, or holds himself willing to supply, hot food or hot drink to 
any persons, or to persons of a particular description, on or from 
those premises, whether for consumption on or off the premises. 

Regulated Entertainment 
 

Where not subject to amending legislation is defined as: 

(a) a performance of a play 

(b) an exhibition of film 

(c) an indoor sporting event 

(d) a boxing or wrestling entertainment 

(e) a performance of live music 

(f) any playing of recorded music 

(g) a performance of dance 

(h) entertainment of a similar description to that falling within 
paragraph (e), (f) or (g) where the entertainment takes place in 
the presence of an audience and is provided for the purpose, or 
for purposes which include the purpose of entertaining that 
audience.  Any reference to an audience includes a reference to 
spectators.  This definition is subject to Part 3 of Schedule 1 to 
the Licensing Act 2003 (interpretation). 

Responsible Authority is defined as: 

3.0 the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing 
authority in whose area part of the premises is situated 

4.0 the Chief Officer of Police for any Police area in which the 
premises are situated 

5.0 the Fire and Rescue Service for any area in which the 
premises are situated 

6.0 the Director of Public Health ((England)  

 

Page 44



 

 32 

7.0 the enforcing authority within the meaning given by section 
18 of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 for any 
area in which the premises are situated 

8.0 the local planning authority within the meaning given by 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (c.8) for any 
area in which the premises are situated 

9.0 the local authority by which statutory functions are 
exercisable in any area in which the premises are situated 
in relation to minimising or preventing the risk of pollution 
of the environment or of harm to human health 

10.0 a body which: 

 represents those who, in relation to any such area, 
are responsible for, or interested in matters relating 
to the protection of children from harm, and 

 is recognised by the licensing authority for that 
area for the purposes of this section as being 
competent to advise it on such matters 

11.0  in relation to a vessel: 

(i) a navigation authority (within the meaning of section 221(1) 
of the Water Resources Act 1991 (c.57)) having functions in 
relation to the waters where the vessel is usually moored or 
berthed or any waters where it is or is proposed to be, 
navigated at a time when it is used for licensable activities 

(ii) the Environment Agency 

(ii) the British Waterways Board, or  

(iii) Secretary of State 

12.0 a person prescribed for the purpose of this subsection. 

13.0 The local weights and measures authority (Trading 
Standards) 

14.0 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the 
Secretary of State). 

Safety Advisory Group  A non-statutory group of Regulatory Authorities offering a single 
point of reference on event safety to both event organisers and 
regulatory services alike. 

Temporary Event is defined as the use of premises for one or more of the licensable 
activities during a period not exceeding 168 hours usually where a 
premises licence covering the licensable activity is not in place. 

Temporary Event Notice a document giving notice to the Licensing Authority of intention to 
hold a temporary event 

 

  
 
 
 

Page 45



 

 33 

APPENDIX B 
 

CONTACT ADDRESSES AND TELEPHONE NUMBERS 
FOR RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES FOR SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY ADDRESS 
TELEPHONE 

NUMBER 

Avon and Somerset Police 

 
liquorlicensing@avonandsomerset.pnn.police.uk  

 

Liquor Licensing   
PO Box 3119 
Bristol   
BS1 2AA 

 

Fire Authority  The Station Officer, 
The Fire Station, 
Yeovil,  
Somerset,  
BA20 1JF 

 
01935 382000 

South Somerset District Council 
(Environmental Protection) 

 
 enhpollution@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Environmental Protection 
Team 
The Council Offices 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil 
Somerset  
BA20 2HT 

 
 01935 462462 

South Somerset District Council 
(Planning Department ) 

 
 planning@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Planning Department 
Council Offices 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil 
Somerset, 
BA20 2HT 

 
01935 462462 

South Somerset District Council 
(Licensing Responsible Authority) 

 
 licensing@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Vicki Dawson 
Lead Specialist, 
Environment 
Council Offices 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil Somerset,  
BA20 2HT 

 
01935 462462 

South Somerset District Council (Health 
and Safety) 

 
 food.safety@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Food & Safety Team 
Council Offices 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil  
Somerset,  
BA20 2HT 

 
01935 462462 

Health and Safety Executive (for schools, 
colleges, universities and factories) 

 

 
2 Rivergate 
Bristol 
BS1 6EW 

 
0117 988 6000 

NHS Somerset – Public Health Public Health 
Somerset County Council 
A3W County Hall 
Taunton  
TA1 4DY 

 
01823 357207 

 

Social Services – Somerset County 
Council 

FAO Mrs Kara Storey 

PO Box 5199 
 

01935 422111 

Page 46



 

 34 

Council Offices 
Brympton Way 
Yeovil  
Somerset  
BA20 2HT 

Trading Standards 

 
tsadvice@devon.gov.uk  

 

Devon and Somerset 
Trading Standards  
Buckland Road 
Chelston 
Wellington 
Somerset  
TA21 9HP 

 
0845 3459166 

Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) 
(not required where the application is 
ONLY for regulated entertainment  

 

Alcohol Licensing Team  
Lunar House  
40 Wellesley Road  
Croydon  
CR9 2BY  

Not Applicable 

Responsible Authority for Vessels (for the 
whole of the Southwest) 

(not required unless premises is a vessel) 

FAO Tony Heslop 
Maritime & Coastguard  
Plymouth Marine Office, 
Western Region, 
New Fish Market,  
Fish Quay 
Plymouth,  
PL4 0LH 

 
01752 266211 

 
 
 
Please don’t forget that the Licensing Authority in its administrative capacity also requires a 
copy of the application form, plan and any other enclosures not forgetting the application fee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47


	Agenda
	4 Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


